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State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT
)
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)
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)




)


vs.

)

No. 02-0009 PO




)

MATTHEW W. NOVINGER,
)




)



Respondent.
)

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (Director) filed a complaint on 

January 3, 2002, seeking this Commission’s determination that the peace officer certificate of Matthew W. Novinger is subject to discipline for appropriating the property of a suspect.

On March 27, 2002, the Director filed a motion for summary determination with supporting exhibits.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.450(4)(C) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Director establishes facts that (a) Novinger does not dispute and 

(b) entitle the Director to a favorable decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).

The Director cites the request for admissions that he served on Novinger on February 20, 2002.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.  The party making the request is entitled to 

rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof in required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact or any application of law to fact.  Linde v. Kilbourne, 543 S.W.2d 543, 545-46 (Mo. App., W.D. 1976).  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  Section 536.073, RSMo 2000,
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.420(1) apply that rule to this case.

We gave Novinger until April 19, 2002, to file a response to the motion, but he did not respond.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed. 

Findings of Fact

1. Novinger holds peace officer Certificate No. ###-##-####.  That certificate was current and active at all relevant times.  

2. Novinger was employed by the Lebanon Police Department, Lebanon, Missouri, at all relevant times. 

3. On or about October 16, 2001, while on duty as a peace officer with the Lebanon Police Department, Novinger appropriated the property of a suspect, Michael Hawkins, without Hawkins’ consent and with the purpose of denying Hawkins of the property.  The property appropriated by Novinger included $3.00 U.S. currency and two packages of cigarettes.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to decide whether Novinger’s peace officer certificate is subject to discipline.  Section 621.045, RSMo 2000.  The Director has the burden to show that Novinger has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).

I.  Criminal Offense


The Director alleges that Novinger’s certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(2), which provides:


1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *   


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge have been filed[.]


The Director alleges that Novinger appropriated the property in violation of section 570.030, which provides in part:


1.  A person commits the crime of stealing if he or she appropriates property or services of another with the purpose to deprive him or her thereof, either without his or her consent or by means of deceit or coercion.


By failing to respond to the Director’s request for admissions, Novinger has admitted that he appropriated the property of a suspect without the suspect’s consent and with the intent to deprive him of that property.  He has further admitted that his action was a violation of section 570.030 and that his certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(2).  Therefore, Novinger’s certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(2).

II.  Moral Turpitude


The Director alleges that Novinger’s certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(3), which allows discipline if Novinger:


(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


By failing to respond to the Director’s request for admissions, Novinger has admitted that while on duty as a peace officer, he appropriated the property of a suspect.  Novinger has further admitted that his certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(3).  Therefore, Novinger’s certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(3).  

Summary


We conclude that Novinger’s certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(2) and (3).  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on April 25, 2002.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2001 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise indicated.


	�We note that our determination does not affect Novinger’s criminal record.  The burden of proof to determine criminal liability is different than in a civil licensing case.
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